# THE

# BAPTIST CHURCH MANUAL:

CONTAINING

THE DECLARATION OF FAITH,

COVENANT,

RULES OF ORDER,

AND

Brief Forms of Church Letters.

BY J. NEWTON BROWN, Editor of the Encyclopedia of Religious Knowledge.

Philadelphia:

PUBLISHED FOR THE AUTHOR BY B. R. LOXLEY, 118 ARCH STREET.



# THE

# BAPTIST CHURCH MANUAL:

CONTAINING

THE DECLARATION OF FAITH.

COVENANT,

RULES OF ORDER,

AND

Brief Forms of Church Letters.

BY J. NEWTON BROWN, Editor of the Encyclopedia of Religious Knowledge.

Philadelphia:

PUBLISHED FOR THE AUTHOR BY B. R. LOXLEY, 118 ABCH STREET.

 Entered according to Act of Congress, in the year 1853, by the REV. J. NEWTON BROWN,

In the Clerk's Office of the District Court of the United States, in and for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.

STEREOTYPED BY GEORGE CHARLES.
PRINTED BY KING & DALLD.

# ADVERTISÉMENT

#### TO THE REVISED DECLARATION OF FAITH.

THE author of this little work, commonly called the "New Hampshire Confession," cannot sufficiently express his gratitude to God for the unexpected favor with which it has been generally received. Originally drawn up twenty years ago, by request of the New Hampshire Baptist Convention, and carefully examined, article by article, by the Board of the Convention in a session of three successive days, it was unanimously adopted, and "recommended to the churches whose faith it unfolds." This was in January, 1833. Probably no one, certainly not the author, then anticipated its use beyond the limits of New Hampshire. But in a few years it was spread over every section of the United States, and became extensively known on the continent of Europe. Various causes contributed to this result, which must be regarded as strictly providential. One of these was its insertion, by advice of the Rev. Dr. Stow, of Boston, in the Encyclopedia of Religious Knowledge, of which nearly 100,000 copies have been circulated; and another, its introduction in an abridged form, by the Rev. Dr. Baird, into his book on "Religion in the United States of America," designed chiefly for diffusing correct information abroad.

The demand for this work steadily increasing, numerous reprints, in different States, have appeared; with attempts at improvement by different persons, and not a few errors of the press. It has consequently been urged as a duty imperative on the author, by many whose judgment he respects, to undertake a new edition with his name attached, and with such revision as on mature reflection, he deems called for, after the lapse of twenty years. This he has at length consented to do; and in doing it, as well as in supplying two new articles, one on Repentance and Faith, and the other on Sanctification, he has had the counsel of some distinguished men to aid his own prayerful and deliberate judgment.

In its new form it is now published for the use of the churches. Let it be compared throughout with the Scriptures, from which alone it professes to be drawn. In its conformity with that Divine Standard lies all its worth, its vitality, its power. May the God of all grace still own it as an instrument of good to the churches, and of glory to Christ.

J. NEWTON BROWN.

Philadelphia, Jan. 11, 1853.

158116 262,46 Restricted Area 8813b

# CONTENTS.

	Page
DECLARATION OF FAITH,	1 460
I. Of the Scriptures,	. 5
II. Of the True God.	6
III. Of the Fall of Man,	. 7
IV. Of the Way of Salvation,	8
V. Of Justification,	. 9
VL. Of the Freeness of Salvation,	10
VII. Of Grace in Regeneration,	. 10
VIII. Of Repentance and Faith,	11
IX. Of God's Purpose of Grace,	. 13
X. Of Sanctification,	13
XI. Of the Perseverance of Saints,	. 14
XII. Of the Harmony of the Law and Gospel,	15
XIII. Of a Gospel Church,	. 16
XIV. Of Baptism and the Lord's Supper,	17
XV. Of the Christian Sabbath,	. 18
XVI. Of Civil Government,	18
XVII. Of the Righteous and the Wicked, .	. 19
XVIII. Of the World to Come,	20
CHURCH COVENANT,	. 22
Officers,	23
Rules of Order,	25
FORMS OF LETTERS,	35

# DECLARATION OF FAITH.

### I. OF THE SCRIPTURES.

We believe that the Holy Bible was written by men divinely inspired, and is a perfect treasure of heavenly instruction; that it has Goo for its author, salvation for its end,2 and truth without any mixture of error for its matter; that it reveals the principles by which God will judge us;4 and therefore is, and shall remain to the end of the world, the true centre of Christian union,5 and the supreme standard by which all human conduct, creeds, and opinions should be tried.6

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

2 Tim. iii. 16, 17. All scripture is given by inspiration of God and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for in struction in righteousness; that the man of God may be perfect thoroughly furnished unto all good works. Also, 2 Pet. i. 21 Sam. xxiii. 2. Acts i. 16; iii. 21 John x. 35. Luke xvi. 29—31. Ps. cxix 111. Rom. iii. 1, 2.

<sup>2</sup> 2 Tim. iii. 15.—able to make thee wise unto salvation. Also, 1 Pet. i. 10-12. Acts xi. 14. Rom. i. 16. Mark xvl. 16. John

<sup>3</sup> Proverbs xxx. 5, 6. Every word of God is pure.—Add thot not unto his words, lest he reprove thee, and thou be found a liar. Also, John xvii. 17. Rev. xxii. 18, 19. Rom. iii. 4.

4 Rom. ii. 12. As many as have sinned in the law, shall be rom. 11. 12. As many as nave sinted in the law, shall be judged by the law. John xii. 47, 48. If any man hear my words—the word that I have spoken, the same shall judge him in the last day. Also, I Cor. iv. 3, 4. Luke x. 10—16; xii. 47, 48.

Phil. iii. 16. Let us walk by the same rule; let us mind the same thing. Also, Ephes. iv. 3—6. Phil. ii. 1, 2. 1 Cor. i. 10. 1

Pet. iv. 11.

o 1 John iv. 1. Beloved, believe not every spirit, but try the spirits whether they are of God. Isaiah viii. 20. To the law and to the testimony; if they speak not according to this word, it is because there is no light in them. 1 Thess. v. 21. Prove all things. 2 Cor. xiii. 5. Prove your own selves. Also. Acts xvii. 11. 1 John iv. 6. Jude 3d v. Ephes. vi. 17. Ps. cxix. 59, 60. Phil. i 9-11.

# II. OF THE TRUE GOD.

We believe that there is one, and only one, living and true God, an infinite, intelligent Spirit, whose name is Jehovah, the Maker and Supreme Ruler of Heaven and Earth; inexpressibly glorious in holiness, and worthy of all possible honor, confidence and love; that in the unity of the Godhead there are three persons, the Father, the Son, and the Holy Ghost; equal in every divine perfection, and executing distinct but harmonious offices in the great work of redemption.

- <sup>2</sup> John iv. 24. God is a Spirit. Ps. cxlvii. 5. His understanding is infinite. Ps. lxxxiii. 18. Thou whose name alone is JEHOVAH, art the Most High over all the earth. Heb. iii. 4. Rom. 1. 20. Jer. x. 10.
- Ex. xv. 11. Who is like unto Thee—glorious in holiness? Isa. vi. 3. 1 Pet. i. 15, 16. Rev. iv. 6—8.
- <sup>2</sup> Mark xii. 30. Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy mind, and with all thy strength. Rev. iv. 11. Thou art worthy, O Lord, to receive glory, and honor, and power: for thou hast created all things, and for thy pleasure they are and were created. Mat. x. 37. Jer. ii. 12, 13.
- <sup>4</sup> Mat. xxviii. 19. Go ye therefore and teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost. John xv. 26. When the Comforter is come, whom I will send you from the Father, even the Spirit of Truth, which proceedeth from the Father, he shall testify of me. 1 Cor. xii. 4—6. 1 John x. 7.
- John x. 30. I and my Father are one. John v. 17; xiv. 23 xvii. 5, 10. Acts v. 3, 4. 1 Cor. ii. 10, 11. Phil. ii. 5, 6.
- <sup>6</sup> Ephes. ii. 18. For through Him [the Son] we both have an access by one Spirit unto the Father. 2 Cor. xiii. 14. The grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Ghost, be with you all. Rev. i. 4, 5. Comp. ii. 7.

# III. OF THE FALL OF MAN.

We believe that Man was created in holiness, under the law of his Maker; but by voluntary transgression fell from that holy and happy state; in consequence of which all mankind are now sinners, not by constraint but choice; being by nature utterly void of that holiness required by the law of God, positively inclined to evil; and therefore under just condemnation to eternal ruin, without defence or excuse.

- <sup>2</sup> Gen. i. 27. God created man in his own image. Gen. i. 31 And God saw every thing that he had made, and behold, it was very good. Eccles. vii. 29. Acts xvii. 26. Gen. ii. 16.
- a Gen. iii. 6-24. And when the woman saw that the tree was good for food, and that it was pleasant to the eyes, and a tree to be desired to make one wise; she took of the fruit thereof, and did eat; and gave also unto her husband with her, and he did eat.—Therefore the Lord God drove out the man; and he placed at the east of the garden of Eden, Cherubims, and a flaming sword which turned every way to keep the way of the tree of life. Rom. v. 12.
- Rom. v. 19. By one man's disobedience many were made sinners. John iii. 6 Ps. li. 5. Rom. v. 15—19; viii. 7.
- <sup>4</sup> Isa. liii. 6. We have turned, every one to his own way. Gen. vi. 12. Rom. iii. 9—18.
- <sup>6</sup> Eph. ii. 1—3. Among whom also we all had our conversation in times past in the lusts of our flesh, fulfilling the desires of the flesh and of the mind; and were by nature the children of wrath even as others. Rom. i. 18. For the wrath of God is revealed from heaven against all ungodliness and unrighteousness of men, who hold the truth in unrighteousness. Rom.i. 32; ii. 1-16. Gal. iii. 10. Mat. xx. 15.
- e Ez. xviii. 19, 20. Yet say ye, Why? doth not the son bear the iniquity of the father?—The soul that sinneth it shall die The son shall not bear the iniquity of the father, neither shall the father bear the iniquity of the son; the rightecusness of the righteous shall be upon him, and the wickedness of the wicked shall be upon him. Rom. i. 20. So that they are without excuse. Rom. iii. 19. That every mouth may be stopped and all the world may become guilty before God. Gal. iii. 22

# IV. OF THE WAY OF SALVATION.

We believe that the salvation of sinners is wholly of grace; through the Mediatorial offices of the Son of God; who by the appointment of the Father, freely took upon Him our nature, yet without sin; honored the Divine law by his personal obedience, and by his death made a full atonement for our sins; that having risen from the dead, He is now enthroned in Heaven; and uniting in His wonderful person the tenderest sympathies with divine perfections, He is every way qualified to be a suitable, a compassionate, and an all-sufficient Saviour.

- <sup>2</sup> Eph. ii. 5. By grace ye are saved. Mat. xviii. 11. 1 John iv 10. 1 Cor. iii. 5-7. Acts xv. 11.
- <sup>2</sup> John iii. 16. For God so loyed the world, that he gave his onle begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in him should not perisk, but have everlasting life. John i. 1—14. Heb. iv. 14; xii. 24.
- <sup>2</sup> Phil. ii. 6, 7. Who being in the form of God, thought it not robbery to be equal with God; but made himself of no reputation, and took upon him the form of a servant, and was made in the likeness of men. Heb. ii. 9; ii. 14. 2 Cor. v. 21.
- <sup>4</sup> Isa. xlii. 21. The Lord is well pleased for his righteousness's sake; he will magnify the law and make it honorable. Phil. ii. 8. Gal. iv. 4, 5. Rom. iii. 21.
- <sup>5</sup> Isa. liii. 4,5. He was wounded for our transgressions, he was bruised for our iniquities; the chastisement of our peace was upon him; and with his stripes we are healed. Mat. xx. 28. Rom. iv. 25; iii. 21—26. 1 John iv. 10; ii. 2. 1 Cor. xv. 1—3. Heb. ix. 13—15.
- <sup>6</sup> Heb. i. 8. Unto the Son he saith, Thy throne, O God, is for ever and ever. Heb. i. 3. viii; 1. Col. iii. 1—4.
- Theb. vii. 25. Wherefore he is able also to save them to the utmost that come unto God by him, seeing he ever liveth to make intercession for them. Col. ii. 9. For in him dwelleth all the fullness of the Godhead bodily. Heb. ii. 18. In that he himself hath suffered, being tempted, he is able to succor them that are tempted. Heb. vii. 26. Ps. lxxxix. 19. Ps. xlv.

## V. OF JUSTIFICATION.

We believe that the great Gospel blessing which Christ¹ secures to such as believe in Him is Justification;² that Justification includes the pardon of sin,³ and the promise of eternal life on principles of righteousness;⁴ that it is bestowed, not in consideration of any works of righteousness which we have done, but solely through faith in the Redeemer's blood;⁵ by virtue of which faith His perfect righteousness is freely imputed to us of God;⁰ that it brings us into a state of most blessed peace and favor with God, and secures every other blessing needful for time and eternity.⁵

- <sup>1</sup> John i. 16. Of his fullness have all we received. Eph. Mi. 8.
- <sup>2</sup> Acts xiii. 39. By him all that believe are justified from all things. Isa. iii. 11, 12. Rom. viii. 1.
- <sup>3</sup> Rom. v. 9. Being justified by his blood, we shall be saved from wrath through him. Zech. xiii. 1. Matt. ix. 6. Acts. x. 43.
- 4 Rom. v. 17. They which receive the abundance of grace and of the gift of righteousness shall reign in life by one, Jesus Christ. Titus iii. 5, 6. 1 Pet. iii. 7. 1 John ii. 25. Rom. v. 21.
- <sup>5</sup> Rom. iv. 4, 5. Now to him that worketh is the reward not reckoned of grace, but of debt. But to him that worketh not, but believeth on Him that justifieth the ungodly, his faith is counted for righteourness. Rom. v. 21; vi. 23. Phil. iii, 7—9.
- <sup>6</sup> Rom. v. 19. By the obedience of one shall many be made righteous. Rom. iii. 24—26; iv. 23—25. 1 John ii. 12.
- <sup>7</sup> Rom. v. 1, 2. Being justified by faith, we have peace with God, through our Lord Jesus Christ; by whom also we have access by faith into this grace wherein we stand and rejoice in hope of the glory of God. Rom. v. 3. We glory in tribulations also. Rom. v. 11. We also joy in God. 1 Cor 1. 30, 31. Mat. vi. 33. 1 Tim. iv. 8.

# VI. OF THE FREENESS OF SALVATION.

We believe that the blessings of salvation are made free to all by the Gospel; that it is the immediate duty of all to accept them by a cordial, penitent and obedient faith; and that nothing prevents the salvation of the greatest sinner on earth, but his own determined depravity and voluntary rejection of the Gospel;8 which rejection involves him in an aggravated condemnation.4

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

1 Isa. lv. 1. Ho, every one that thirsteth, come ye to the waters. Rev. xxii. 17. Whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely. Luke xiv. 17.

2 Rom. xvi. 26. The Gospel-according to the commandment of the everlasting God, made known to all nations for the obedience

of faith. Mark i. 15. Rom. i. 15-17.

John v. 40. Ye will not come to me, that ye might have life, Mat. xxiii. 37. Rom. ix. 32. Prov. i. 24. Acts xiii. 46.

John iii. 19. And this is the condemnation, that light is come into the world, and men loved darkness rather than light because

# their deeds were evil. Mat. xi. 20. Luke xix. 27. 2 Thess. i. 8. VII. OF GRACE IN REGENERATION.

We believe that in order to be saved, sinners must be regenerated, or born again; that regeneration consists in giving a holy disposition to the mind; that it is effected in a manner above our comprehension by the power of the Holy Spirit, in connection with Divine truth, so as to secure our voluntary obedience to the Gospel;4 and that its proper evidence appears in the holy fruits of repentance, and faith, and newness of life.5

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

John iii. 3. Verily, verily, I say unto thee, Except a man be born again, he cannot see the kingdom of God. John iii. 6, 7. 1

- Dorn again, ne cannot see the anguon of cook of the co whither it goeth; so is every one that is born of the Spirit. John whither it goeth; so is every one that is forth of the spirit. John i. 13. Which were born, not of blood, nor of the will of the fiesh, nor of the will of man, but of God. James i. 16—18. Of his own will begat he us with the word of truth. 1 Cor. i. 30. Phil. ii. 13. 4 1 Pet. i. 22—25. Ye have purified your souls by obeying the truth through the Spirit. 1 John v. 1. Whoseever believeth that Jesus is the Christ is born of God. Eph. iv. 20—24. Col. iii. 9.—11.
- Eph. v. 9. The fruit of the Spirit is in all goodness, and rightcousness, and truth. Rom. viii. 9. Gal. v. 16-23. Eph. iii. 14-21.

Math. iii. 8-10; vii. 20. 1 John, v. 4, 18.

### VIII. OF REPENTANCE AND FAITH.

We believe that Repentance and Faith are sacred duties, and also inseparable graces. wrought in our souls by the regenerating Spirit of God; whereby being deeply convinced of our guilt, danger and helplessness, and of the way of salvation by Christ,2 we turn to God with unfeigned contrition, confession, and supplication for mercy; at the same time heartily receiving the Lord Jesus Christ as our Prophet, Priest and King, and relying on Him alone as the only and all sufficient Saviour.4

## Places in the Bible where taught.

Mark i. 15. Repent ye, and believe the Gospel. Acts xi. 18. Then hath God also to the Gentiles granted repentance unto life. Ephes. ii. 8. By grace ye are saved, through faith; and that not of yourselves; it is the gift of God. 1 John v.1. Whosoever believeth that Jesus is the Christ, is born of God.

<sup>2</sup> John xvi. 8. He will reprove the world of sin, and of right-cousness, and of judgment. Acts ii. 37, 38. They were pricked in their heart, and said-Men and brethren, what shall we do? Then Peter said unto them, Repent, and be baptized every one of you in the name of Jesus Christ for the remission of your sins. Acts

3 Luke xviii. 13. And the publican—smote upon his breast, saying, God be merciful to me a sinner. Luke xv. 18—21. James iv. 7—10. 2 Cor. vii. 11. Rom. x. 12, 13. Ps. li. 4 Rom. x. 9—11. If thou shalt confess with thy mouth the Lord Jesus, and shalt believe in thy heart that God hath raised him from the dead, thou shalt be saved. Acts iii. 22, 23. Heb. iv. 14. Ps. ii. 6. Heb. i. 8; viii. 25. 2 Tim. i. 12.

# IX. OF GOD'S PURPOSE OF GRACE.

We believe that Election is the eternal purpose of God, according to which He graciously regenerates, sanctifies, and saves sinners; that being perfectly consistent with the free agency of man, it comprehends all the means in connection with the end; 2 that it is a most glorious display of God's sovereign goodness, being infinitely free, wise, holy and unchangeable;3 that it utterly excludes boasting, and promotes humility, love, prayer, praise, trust in God, and active imitation of his free mercy; 4 that it encourages the use of means in the highest degree;5 that it may be ascertained by its effects in all who truly believe the Gospel; that it is the foundation of Christian assurance:7 and that to ascertain it with regard to ourselves demands and deserves the utmost diligence.8

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

2 Tim. i. 8 9 Be not thou therefore ashamed of the testimony of our Lord, nor of me his prisoner; but be thou partaker of the afflictions of the Gospel, according to the power of God; who hath saved us and called us with an holy calling, not according to our works, but according to his own purpose and grace which was given us in Christ Jesus before the world began. Eph. i. 3—14. 1 Pet. i. 1, 2. Rom. xi. 5, 6. John xv. 16. 1 John iv. 19. Hos.

2 2 Thess. ii. 13, 14. But we are bound to give thanks always to God for you, brethren beloved of the Lord, because God hath from the heginning chosen you to salvation, through sanctification of the Spirit and belief of the truth; whereunto he called you by our Gospel, to the obtaining of the glory of our Lord Jesus Christ. Acts xiii. 48. John x. 16. Matt. xx. 16. Acts xv. 14.

<sup>3</sup> Ex. xxxiii. 18, 19. And Moses said, I beseech thee, show me thy glory. And He said, I will cause all my goodness to pass before thee, and I will proclaim the name of the Lord before thee, and will be gracious to whom I will be gracious, and will show mercy on whom I will show mercy. Matt. xx. 15. Is it not lawful for me to do what I will with my own? Is thine eye evil, because I am good? Eph. i. 11. Rom. ix. 23, 24. Jer. xxxi. 3. Rom. xi. 28, 29. Jam. i. 17, 18. 2 Tim. i. 9. Rom. xi. 32—36.

4 1 Cor. iv. 7. For who maketh thee to differ from another? and what hast thou that thou didst not receive? Now if thou didst receive it, why dost thou glory as if thou hadst not received it? 1 Cor. i. 26-31. Rom. iii. 27: iv. 16. Col. iii. 12. 1 Cor. iii. 5-7; xv. 10. 1 Pet. v. 10. Acts i. 24. 1 Thess. ii. 13. 1 Pet. ii. 9. Luke xviii. 7. John xv. 16. Eph. i. 16. 1 Thess. ii. 12.

5 2 Tim. ii. 10. Therefore I endure all things for the elects? sake, that they also may obtain the salvation which is in Christ Jesus with eternal glory. 1 Cor. ix. 22. I am made all things to all men, that I might by all means save some. Rom. viii. 28-30. John vi. 37-40. 2 Pet. i. 10.

<sup>5</sup> 1 Thess. i. 4-10. Knowing, brethren beloved, your election of God; for our Gospel came unto you, not in word only, but in power, and in the Holy Ghost, and in much assurance, &c.

7 Rom. viii. 28-30. Moreover, whom he did predestinate them he also called, and whom he called them he also justified, and whom he justified them he also glorified. What shall we then say to these things? If God be for us, who can be against us? Isa. xlii. 16. Rom. xi. 29.

\* 2 Pet. i. 10, 11. Wherefore the rather, brethren, give diligence to make your calling and election sure; for if ye do these things, ye shall never fall; for so an entrance shall be ministered unto you abundantly into the everlasting Kingdom of our Lord and

Saviour Jesus Christ. Phil. iii. 12. Heb. vi. 11.

# X. OF SANCTIFICATION.

We believe that Sanctification is the process by which, according to the will of God, we are made partakers of his holiness; that it is a progressive work;2 that it is begun in regeneration;3 and that it is carried on in the hearts of believers by the presence and power of the Holy Spirit, the Sealer and Comforter, in the continual use of the appointed means-especially, the word of God, self-examination, self-denial, watchfulness and praver.4

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

1 Thess. iv. 3. For this is the will of God, even your sanctification. 1 Thess. v. 23. And the very God of peace sanctify you wholly. 2 Cor. vii. 1. xiii. 9. Epis. i. 4.

2 Prov. iv. 18. The path of the just is as the shining light,

which shineth more and more, unto the perfect day. 2 Cor. iii. 18. Heb. vi. 1. 2 Pet. i. 5—8. Phil. iii. 12—16.

3 John ii. 29. If ye know that he [God] is righteous, ye know that every one that doeth righteousness is born of him. Rom. viii. 5. They that are after the flesh, do mind the things of the flesh; but they that are after the Spirit, the things of the Spirit.

John iii. 6. Phil. i. 9—11. Ephes. i. 13, 14.

Phil. ii. 12, 13. Work out your own salvation with fear and

trembling, for it is God which worketh in you both to will and to do, of his good pleasure. Ephes. iv. 11, 12. 1 Pet. ii. 2. 2 Pet. iii. 18. 2 Cer. xiii. 5. Luke xi. 35; ix. 23. Matt. xxvi. 41. Ephes. vi: 18. iv. 30.

# XI. OF THE PERSEVERANCE OF SAINTS.

We believe that such only are real believers as endure unto the end; that their persevering attachment to Christ is the grand mark which distinguishes them from superficial professors;2 that a special Providence watches over their welfare; and they are kept by the power of God through faith unto salvation.4

Places in the Bible where taught.

1 John viii. 31. Then said Jesus-If ye continue in my word, then are ye my disciples indeed. 1 John ii. 27, 28; iii. 9; v. 18. <sup>2</sup> 1 John ii. 19. They went out from us, but they were not of us; for if they had been of us, they would no doubt have con-

tinued with us; but they went out that it might be made manifest that they were not all of us. John xiii. 18. Matt. xiii. 20, 21. John vi 66-69 Job xvii. 9.

Rom. viii. 28. And we know that all things work together for good unto them that love God, to them who are the called according to his purpose. Matt. vi. 30—33. Jer. xxxii. 40. Ps. cxxi. 3; xci. 11. 12.

4 Phil. i. 6. He who hath begun a good work in you, will perform it until the day of Jesus Christ. Phil. ii. 12, 13. Jude 24, 25. Heb. i. 14. 2 Kings vi. 16. Heb. xiii. 5. 1 John iv. 4.

# XII. OF THE HARMONY OF THE LAW AND THE GOSPEL.

We believe that the Law of God is the eternal and unchangeable rule of His moral government; that it is holy, just, and good; and that the inability which the Scriptures ascribe to fallen men to fulfill its precepts, arises entirely from their love of sin; to deliver them from which, and to restore them through a Mediator to unfeigned obedience to the holy Law, is one great end of the Gospel, and of the Means of Grace connected with the establishment of the visible church.

- <sup>1</sup> Rom. iii. 31. Do we make void the law through faith? God forbid. Yea, we establish the law. Matt. v. 17. Luke xvi. 17. Rom. iii. 20; iv. 15.
- <sup>2</sup> Rom. vii. 12. The law is holy, and the commandment holy, and just, and good. Rom. vii. 7, 14, 22. Gal. iii. 21. Ps. exix.
- <sup>2</sup> Rom. viii. 7, 8. The carnal mind is enmity against God: for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be. So then they that are in the flesh cannot please God. Josh. xxiv. 19. Jer. xiii. 23. John vi. 44; v. 44.
- <sup>4</sup> Rom. viii. 2, 4. For the law of the Spirit of Life in Christ Jesu hath made me free from the law of sin and death. For what the law could not do, in that it was weak through the flesh, God sending his own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh, and for sin, condemned sin in the flesh; that the righteousness of the law might be fulfilled in us, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit. Rom. x. 4. 1 Tim. i. 5. Heb. viii. 10. Jude 20, 21. Heb. xii. 14. Matt. xvi. 17, 18. 1 Cor. xii. 28.

#### XIII. OF A GOSPEL CHURCH

We believe that a visible church of Christ is a congregation of baptized believers,<sup>2</sup> associated by covenant in the faith and fellowship of the Gospel;<sup>2</sup> observing the ordinances of Christ;<sup>3</sup> governed by His laws;<sup>4</sup> and exercising the gifts, rights, and privileges invested in them by His word;<sup>5</sup> that its only scriptural officers are Bishops or Pastors, and Deacons,<sup>8</sup> whose qualifications, claims, and duties are defined in the Epistles to Timothy and Titus.

- <sup>1</sup> 1 Cor. i. 1-13. Paul—unto the church of God which is at Corinth.—Is Christ divided? Was Paul crucified for you? Or were ye baptized in the name of Paul? Matt. xviii. 17. Acts v. 11; viii. 1; xi. 31. 1 Cor. iv. 17; xiv. 23. 3 John 9. 1 Tim. iii. 5.
- a Acts ii. 41, 42. Then they that gladly received his word were baptized; and the same day there were added to them about three thousand souls. 2 Cor. viii. 5. They first gave their ownselves to the Lord, and unto us by the will of God. Acts ii. 47. 1 Cor. v. 12, 13
- \*\* 1 Cor. xi. 2. Now I praise you, brethren, that ye remember me in all things, and keep the ordinances as I delivered them unto you. 2 Thess. iii. 6. Rom. xvi. 17-20. 1 Cor. xi. 23. Matt. xviii. 15-20. 1 Cor. v. vi. 2 Cor. ii. vii. 1 Cor. iv. 17.
- <sup>4</sup> Matt. xxviii. 20. Teaching them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded you. John xiv. 15; xv. 12. 1 John iv. 21. John xiv. 21. 1 Thess. iv. 2. 2 John 6. Gal. vi. 2. All the Epistles.
- <sup>5</sup> Ephes, iv. 7. Unto every one of us is given grace according to the measure of the gift of Christ. 1 Cor. xiv. 12. Seek that ye may excel to the edifying of the church. Phil. 1. 27. That I may heur of your affairs, that ye stand fast in one spirit, with one mind, striving together for the faith of the Gospel. 1 Cor. xii. xiv.
- O Phil. i. 1. With the Bishops and Deacons. Acts xiv. 23; xv 22. 1 Tim. iii. Titus i.

# XIV. OF BAPTISM AND THE LORD'S SUPPER.

We believe that Christian Baptism is the immersion in water of a believer, into the name of the Father, and Son, and Holy Ghost; to show forth in a solemn and beautiful emblem, our faith in the crucified, buried, and risen Saviour, with its effect, in our death to sin and resurrection to a new life; that it is pre-requisite to the privileges of a church relation; and to the Lord's Supper, in which the members of the church by the sacred use of bread and wine, are to commemorate together the dying love of Christ; preceded always by solemn self-examination.

- Acts viii. 36—39. And the eunuch said, See, here is water; what doth hinder me to be baptized? And Philip said, If thou believest with all thy heart thou mayest.—And they went down into the water, both Philip and the eunuch, and he baptized him. Matt. iii. 5, 6. John iii. 22, 23; iv. 1, 2. Matt. xxviii. 10. Mark xvi. 16. Acts ii. 38; viii. 12; xvi. 32—34; xviii. 8.
- <sup>2</sup> Matt. xxviii. 19. Baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost. Acts x. 47, 48. Gal. iii. 27, 28.
- <sup>a</sup> Rom. vi. 4. Therefore we are buried with him by baptism into death; that like as Christ was raised from the dead by the glory of the Father, even so we also, should walk in newness of life. Col. ii. 12. 1 Pet. iii. 20, 21. Acts xxii. 16.
- Acts ii. 41, 42. Then they that gladly received his word were baptized, and there were added to them, the same day, about three thousand souls. And they continued steadfastly in the Apostles' doctrine and fellowship, and in breaking of bread, and in prayers. Matt. xxviii. 19, 20. Acts, and Epistles.
- <sup>8</sup> I. Cor. xi. 26. As often as ye eat this bread and drink this cup, ye do show the Lord's death till he come. Matt. xxvi. 26—29. Mark xiv. 22—25. Luke xxii. 14—20.
- e 1 Cor. xi. 28. But let a man examine himself, and so let him eat of that bread and drink of that cup. 1 Cor. v. 1, 8; x. 3—32; xi. 17—32. John yi. 26—71.

# XV. OF THE CHRISTIAN SABBATH.

We believe that the first day of the week is the Lord's Day, or Christian Sabbath: and is to be kept sacred to religious purposes,2 by abstaining from all secular labor and sinful recreations; by the devout observance of all the means of grace, both private4 and public;5 and by preparation for that rest that remaineth for the people of God.8

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

Acts xx. 7. On the first day of the week, when the disciples came together to break bread, Paul preached to them. Gen. ii. 3 Col. ii. 16, 17. Mark ii. 27. John xx. 19. 1 Cor. xvi. 1, 2. 2 Ex. xx. 8. Remember the Sabbath Day, to keep it holy. Rev. i. 10. I was in the Spirit on the Lord's Day. Ps. cxviii. 24. This

is the day which the Lord hath made: we will rejoice and be

gled in it.

8 Isa. lviii. 13, 14. If thou turn away thy foot from the Sabbath. from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the Sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord honorable; and shalt honor him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words; then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord, and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob. Isa. Ivi. 2—8.

4 Ps. exviii. 15. The voice of rejoicing and salvation is in the

tabernacles of the righteous.

5 Heb. x. 24, 25. Not forsaking the assembling of yourselves together, as the manner of some is. Acts xi. 26. A whole year they assembled themselves with the church, and taught much people. Acts xiii. 44. The next Sabbath-day came almost the whole city together to hear the word of God. Lev. xix. 30. Ex. xlvi. 3. Luke iv. 16. Acts xvii. 2, 3. Ps. xxvi. 8; lxxxvii. 3.

6 Heb. iv. 3-11. Let us labor therefore to enter into that rest.

# XVI. OF CIVIL GOVERNMENT.

We believe that Civil Government is of Divine appointment, for the interests and good order of human society; and that magistrates are to be prayed for, conscientiously honored, and obeyed; except only in things opposed to the will of our Lord Jesus Christ,<sup>3</sup> who is the only Lord of the conscience, and the Prince of the kings of the earth.<sup>4</sup>

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

- <sup>1</sup> Rom. xiii. 1—7. The powers that be are ordained of God. For rulers are not a terror to good works, but to the evil. Deut. xvi. 18. 2 Sam. xxiii. 3. Ex. xviii. 23. Jer. xxx. 21.
- <sup>2</sup> Matt. xxii. 21. Render therefore unto Cesar the things that are Cesar's, and unto God the things that are God's. Titus iii. 1. Pet. ii. 13. 1 Tim. ii. 1.—8.
- <sup>3</sup> Acts v. 29. We ought to obey God rather than man. Matt. x-28. Fear not them which kill the body, but are not able to kill the soul. Dan. iii. 15—18; vi. 7—10. Acts iv. 18—20.
- <sup>4</sup> Matt. xxiii. 10. Ye have one Master, even Christ. Rom. xiv. 4. Who art thou that judgest another man's servant? Rev. xix. 16. And he hath on his vesture and on his thigh a name written, KING OF KINGS, AND LORD OF LORDS. Ps. lxxii. 11. Ps. ii. Rom. xiv. 9—13.

# XVII. OF THE RIGHTEOUS AND THE WICKED.

We believe that there is a radical and essential difference between the righteous and the wicked; that such only as through faith are justified in the name of the Lord Jesus, and sanctified by the Spirit of our God, are truly righteous in His esteem; while all such as continue in impenitence and unbelief are in His sight wicked, and under the curse; and this distinction holds among men both in and after death.

#### Places in the Bible where taught.

<sup>4</sup> Mal. iii. 18. Ye shall discern between the righteous and the wicked; between him that serveth God and him that serveth him not. Prov. xii. 28. Isa. v. 20. Gen. xviii. 23. Jer. xv. 19. Acts x 34, 35. Rom. vi. 16,

Rom. i. 17. The just shall live by faith. Rom. vii. 6. We are delivered from the law, that being dead wherein we were held, that we should serve in newness of spirit, and not in the oldness of the letter. 1 John ii. 29. If ye know that he is righteous, ye know that every one that doeth righteousness is born of him. 1 John iii. 7. Rom. vi. 18, 22. 1 Cor. xi. 32. Prov. xi. 31. 1 Pet. iv. 17, 18.

3 1 John v. 19. And we know that we are of God, and the whole world lieth in wickedness. Gal. iii. 10. As many as are of the works of the law, are under the curse. John iii. 36. Isa. Ivii. 21.

Ps. x. 4. Isa. lv. 6, 7.

Prov. xiv 32. The wicked is driven away in his wickedness, but the righteous hath hope in his death. See, also, the example of the rich man and Lazarus. Luke xvi. 25. Thou in thy lifetime receivedst thy good things, and likewise Lazarus evil things: but now he is comforted, and thou art tormented. John viii. 21-24. Prov. x. 24. Luke xii. 4, 5; ix. 23-26. John xii. 25, 26. Eccl. iii. 17. Matt. vii. 13, 14.

# XVIII. OF THE WORLD TO COME.

We believe that the end of this world is approaching: that at the Last Day, Christ will descend from heaven, and raise the dead from the grave to final retribution; that a solemn separation will then take place;4 that the wicked will be adjudged to endless punishment, and the righteous to endless joy;5 and that this judgment will fix forever the final state of men in heaven or hell, on principles of righteousness 6

## Places in the Bible where taught.

1 1 Pet. iv. 7. But the end of all things is at hand; be ye therefore sober, and watch unto prayer. 1 Cor. vii. 29-31. Heb. i 10-12. Matt. xxiv. 35. 1 John ii. 17. Matt. xxviii. 20; xiii. 39 2 Pet. iii. 3-13.

2 Acts i. 11. This same Jesus which is taken up from you into heaven, shall so come in like manner as ye have seen him go into heaven. Rev. i. 7. Heb. ix. 28. Acts iii. 21. 1 Thess. iv. 13—18; v. 1—11.

\*\*Acts xxiv. 15. There shall be a resurrection of the dead, both

of the just and unjust. 1 Cor. xv. 12—59. Luke xiv. 14. Dan. xii. 2. John v. 28, 29; vi. 40; xi. 25, 26. 2 Tim. i. 10. Acts x. 42.

4 Matt. xiii. 49. The angels shall come forth, and sever the wicked from among the just. Matt. xiii. 37-43; xxiv. 30, 31; xxv. 31-33.

5 Matt. xxv. 35-41. And these shall go away into everlasting punishment, but the righteous into life eternal. Rev. xxii. 11. He that is unjust, let him be unjust still; and he which is filthy, let him be filthy still; and he that is righteous, let him be righteous still; and he that is holy, let him be holy still. 1 Cor. vi. 9, 10. Mark ix. 43—48. 2 Pet. ii. 9. Jude 7. Phi. iii. 19. Rom. vi. 22. 2. Cor. v. 10, 11. John iv. 36. 2 Cor. iv. 18.

 22. 2. Coff. V. 10, 11. Solin IV. 30.
 8 Rom. iii. 5, 6. Is God unrighteous, who taketh vengeance?
 (I speak as a man.) God forbid; for how then shall God judge the world?
 2 Thess. i. 6—12. Seeing it is a righteous thing with God to recompense tribulation to them who trouble you, and to you who are troubled, rest with us—when he shall come to be glorified in his saints, and to be admired in all them that believe. Heb. vi. 1, 2. 1 Cor. iv. 5. Acts xvii. 31. Rom. ii. 2—16. Rev. xx. 11, 12. 1 John ii. 28; iv. 17.

SEEING THEN THAT ALL THESE THINGS SHALL BE DISSOLVED, WHAT MANNER OF PERSONS OUGHT WE TO BE IN ALL HOLY CONVERSATION AND GODLINESS, LOOKING FOR AND HASTING UNTO THE COMING OF THE DAY OF GOD? 2 Peter iii. 11. 12.

### CHURCH COVENANT.

Having been led, as we believe, by the Spirit of God, to receive the Lord Jesus Christ as our Saviour, and on the profession of our faith, having been baptized in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost, we do now in the presence of God, angels, and this assembly, most solemnly and joyfully enter into covenant with one another, as one body in Christ.

We engage therefore, by the aid of the Holy Spirit, to walk together in Christian love; to strive for the advancement of this Church, in knowledge, holiness and comfort; to promote its prosperity and spirituality; to sustain its worship, ordinances, discipline and doctrines; to contribute cheerfully and regularly to the support of the ministry, the expenses of the Church, the relief of the poor, and the spread of the Gospel through all nations.

We also engage to maintain family and secret devotion; to religiously educate our children; to seek the salvation of our kindred and acquaintances; to walk circumspectly in the world; to be just in our dealings, faithful in our engagements, and exemplary in our deportment; to avoid all tattling, backbiting, and excessive anger; to abstain from the sale and

use of intoxicating drinks as a beverage, and to be zealous in our efforts to advance the kingdom of our Saviour.

We further engage to watch over one another in brotherly love; to remember each other in prayer; to aid each other in sickness and distress; to cultivate Christian sympathy in feeling and courtesy in speech; to be slow to take ofence, but always ready for reconciliation, and mindful of the rules of our Saviour to secure it without delay.

We moreover engage, that when we remove from this place, we will as soon as possible unite with some other Church, where we can carry out the spirit of this covenant and the principles of God's word.

## PRAYER.

Now the God of Peace, who brought again from the dead our Lord Jesus, that Great Shepherd of the sheep, through the blood of the everlasting Covenant, make you perfect in every good work, to do his will; working in you that which is well-pleasing in his sight, through Jesus Christ; to whom be glory forever and ever. Amen.

# OFFICERS.

Pastor.

Deacons.

Clerk.

Treasurer.

# RULES OF CHURCH ORDER.

Let all things be done decently and in order. 1 Cor. xiv. 40. Let all things be done with charity. 1 Cor. xvi. 14. Let all things be done to edifying. 1 Cor. xiv. 26. Do ll in the name of the Lord Jesus. Cor. iii. 17.

#### ART, I. RECEPTION OF MEMBERS.

- SEC. 1. Any person professing faith in the Lord Jesus Christ, giving evidence of a change of heart, and adopting the views of faith and practice held by this church, as set forth in the foregoing Declaration, may, upon baptism, be received into its membership.
- SEC. 2. Candidates for baptism shall be propounded to the church at some stated devotional meeting, at least two days before they are examined before the church; and their admission hall not be acted on until the church has ascertained their character and standing. The question of reception shall not be taken in their presence.
- SEC. 3. Members from other churches holding the same faith may be received, by letters of recommendation and dismission from their respective churches.
- SEC. 4. Those who have once been members of Baptist Churches, and in consequence of any peculiar circumstances, have no regular letters of dismission, may be received, by giving satis-

THEOLOGICAL SEMINARY LIBRARY

factory evidence of a change of heart, Christia conduct, and scriptural faith.

- SEC. 5. Excluded members may be restored to membership on confession of their errors, and giving evidence of repentence.
- SEC. 6. No person shall be received as a member of this church, to whose admission five members object; but if required, the objections shall be communicated to the pastor and deacons.

#### ART. II. GENERAL DUTIES OF MEMBERS.

- SEC. 1. The duties of members to themselves are, the acquisition of religious knowledge; constant progression in grace and spirituality; consistency of external conduct; and the control and eradication of every unholy temper.
- SEC. 2. It is the duty of members to honor, esteem, and love their *Pastor*; to pray for him, fervently and daily; to submit to him in the scriptural exercise of his official authority; to attend constantly upon his ministrations; to manifest a tender regard for his reputation; and to contribute towards his support in proportion to their ability.
- SEC. 3. It is the duty of each member to cultivate and cherish brotherly love for all other members of the church; to visit and sympathize with them in affliction; to pray with and for them; to administer pecuniary relief to those who are necessitous; tenderly to regard their reputation; affectionately and privately to admonish them for faults and improprieties; and to strive by all proper measures to promote their spiritual benefit and prosperity.

- SEC. 4. Toward those who are not connected with the church, it is the duty of members, to bear a prudent testimony against evil practices; to be exact in fulfilling obligations and performing promises; to live in a peaceable and neighborly manner; to perform offices of kindness and charity; to set an example of industry, honesty, and generosity; and as opportunity and ability may enable, to commend the religion of the gospel unto them.
- SEC. 5. It is the duty of all members removing from the vicinity of the church, to take letters of dismission to other churches of the same denomination; but should this not be practicable, to furnish their names and places of residence within three months after leaving the church.

#### ART, III. OFFICERS OF THE CHURCH.

SEC. 1. As often as it may be deemed necessary, by the death or removal of a previous pastor, the church shall, without unnecessary delay, invite to its Pastorship some minister of good report; provided at least three-fourths of the members present and voting at any meeting, of which two weeks public notice shall have been given, consent to the invitation.

It shall be the duty of the pastor to preach statedly at the church; to administer the ordinances of the gospel; to act as Moderator, when present, in meetings for the transaction of business; and to perform the various other duties

incumbent on his office

In case of a proposed change of relation, three months notice shall be given by either party.

SEC. 2. The church shall elect Deacons by a majority of at least three-fourths of its members present at any regular or duly notified meeting, as often as it may be rendered necessary.

It shall be the duty of the Deacons to seek out such members of the church as need pecuniary assistance, and to use the alms of the church for their relief; to visit the sick; to prepare and distribute the elements of the Lord's Supper; to take a general supervision of the external interests of the church, and to co-operate with and assist the pastor in the performance of his duties.

The ordination of Deacons shall be preceded by one year's trial. They shall continue in office as long as satisfaction shall be given.

- SEC. 3. Seven Trustees, a Treasurer, Clerk, and Sexton, shall on the Monday before the last Sabbath in January in every year, be elected by ballot, by a majority of votes. In case of any omission, to hold the election as above, the election shall be held at the next regular meeting for business. In case of the death, resignation, or removal of either of the said officers, an election shall be held to fill the vacancy, at the first regular meeting following that at which such vacancy shall have been announced as having occurred.
- SEC. 4. It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to receive all monies, and pay all orders drawn on him by order of the church.

He shall keep a true and fair book of accounts;

and annually at the said meeting for business in January, shall lay before the church a statement of the monies so received and paid, which a committee appointed by the church shall examine, with the necessary youchers.

SEC. 5. The Clerk shall keep a fair record of the proceedings of the church, in their meetings for business; sign all orders on the Treasury passed by the church; take charge of all the records; and keep a register of all the members of this church.

#### ART, IV. MEETINGS OF THE CHURCH.

- SEC. 1. The regular meeting for business shall be held
- SEC. 2. Special meetings may be called by the Pastor or Moderator of the church. In case of his resignation, absence, impeachment, or refusal to act, the Clerk shall call such a meeting on a written request signed by not less than seven male members; and the notice shall be publicly given from the pulpit on the Lord's day preceding.
- SEC. 3. Nine male members shall constitute a quorum, for the transaction of business.
- SEC. 4. The church shall regularly meet every Lord's Day, for the public worship of Almighty God.
- Sec. 5. The ordinance of the Lord's Supper shall be observed by the church, upon
  - SEC. 6. Once in each week, at least, it shall 3\*

be the duty of the members to meet for social prayer.

#### ART, V. MANNER OF CONDUCTING BUSINESS.

- SEC. 1. The Pastor of the church, or in his absence, any brother whom the church may appoint, shall act as Moderator in all meetings for the transaction of business.
- SEC. 2. It shall be the duty of the Moderator to keep order; state and explain propositions; and by his vote decide questions, upon which there is no majority.
- Sec. 3. He shall cause every meeting to be opened and closed by prayer.
- SEC. 4. He shall call for the business of the church in the following order.
  - 1. Read the Minutes of the previous meeting.
- 2. Hear the experience of Candidates for membership.
- 3. Receive Letters of dismission from sister churches.
- 4. Grant Letters of dismission to those requesting them.
- 5. Hear reports of Committees and other unfinished business.
  - 6. New business.
- SEC. 5. He shall suffer no second motion to be entertained until the one under consideration has been disposed of, except motions to amend, postpone, adjourn, or put the main question.
- SEC. 6. He shall call to order any member who, while speaking, introduces any subject foreign to the one under discussion.

- SEC. 7. He shall call to order any member who uses uncourteous language, or whose remarks are adapted to injure the reputation or feelings of any brother.
- SEC. 8. He may speak upon any subject under discussion, by inviting a brother to preside in his place.
- Sec. 9. Every member who wishes to speak shall rise, and respectfully address the Moderator.
- SEC. 10. Every proposition presented for the action of the church, must be introduced by the motion of one member—in writing, if requested—and seconded by another.
- SEC. 11. No member shall speak more than twice upon the same subject, without the expressed consent of the church.
- SEC. 12. Upon any point of order a member may appeal from the Moderator to the church, whose decision shall be final.
- SEC. 13. All questions shall be decided by the vote of a majority, except the cases mentioned in other sections of these rules.

# ART. VI. MODE OF PROCEEDING AGAINST A DISORDERLY MEMBER.

SEC. 1. When offence is given to one member of the church, by the language or conduct of another, if the offence relate only to himself, and is known to none other, the offended shall, without consulting or informing any person, seek opportunity to converse privately with the offender, with an honest view to reconcile the difficulty

- if possible. If satisfaction be given, he shall complain of the offender to none.
- SEC. 2. If satisfaction be not given, it shall be the duty of the offended to select one or two, or at most three others, choosing such as he may deem best adapted to effect a reconciliation, with whom he shall again privately converse with the offending brother; if satisfaction be given, he shall make no further complaint.
- SEC. 3. If these efforts fail to secure a reconciliation, it shall be the duty of the offended to lay the matter before the church, for further action.
- SEC. 4. If any member of the church shall be publicly guilty of any crime or gross impropriety, it shall be the duty of the member knowing the transgression, to see or write to the offender, and inform him of his intention to lay the matter before the church, that he may appear in his own defence.
- SEC. 5. When common rumor charges a crime or gross impropriety against a member, it shall be the duty of the member hearing it to visit or write to the accused, and inform him of the reports; and if he has reason to believe that they are true, to take the most judicious steps to ascertain their correctness, and lay the charge and its evidence before the church.
- SEC. 6. When peculiar circumstances render it impracticable to visit or write to a member, who is known, or currently reported to have been guilty of crime or gross impropriety, it shall be the duty of the member knowing or

hearing of such conduct, to take the most judicious measures to ascertain the truth, and lay the matter before the church.

- Sec. 7. If a member having erred, shall voluntarily confess it to the church, and manifest repentance, no further proceedings, in ordinary cases, shall be entertained against him.
- SEC. 8. If a charge be preferred against an absent member, he shall, if practicable, be cited to appear at the next meeting of the church; and no member, if absent, shall be censured or excluded, at the same meeting during which a charge is preferred against him.
- SEC. 9. Every member against whom a charge of misconduct is preferred, shall have the privilege of speaking in his own defence.
- SEC. 10. Written testimony of any individual who is not a member of the church, may be admitted in cases of discipline; but not oral testimony, except the individual testifying be connected with some church of the same faith and order.
- SEC. 11. If a member fail to give satisfaction to the church in relation to charges preferred against him, or perversely refuse to appear before the church when cited, he shall be excluded.

#### ART. VII. CONVENING A COUNCIL.

In cases of difficulty, for the decision of which the church desire the advice and wisdom of disinterested brethren, letters may be sent to the neighboring churches, requesting them to appoint delegates to meet a delegation from the church on a specified day; to which council, when organized, the case shall be referred, and their advice shall be laid before the church for further action.

#### ART, VIII, REPRESENTATION IN ASSOCIATION.

Once in each year delegates shall be appointed to represent the church in the Association; whose duty it shall be to furnish to the Association a statement of the condition of the church, including its changes; to faithfully represent the desires of the church; and to co-operate with the messengers of other churches in promoting the interests of the kingdom of Christ.

# ART. IX. LICENSING AND ORDAINING MEMBERS TO PREACH THE GOSPEL.

- SEC. 1. Any member who, in the judgment of the church, gives evidence, by his piety, zeal, and "aptness to teach," that he is called of God to the work of the ministry, after having preached in the hearing of the church, may be licensed to preach the gospel of Jesus Christ, provided three-fourths of the members present at any regular meeting shall agree thereto.
- SEC. 2. If the church unanimously decide that one of its licensed preachers possesses the scriptural qualifications for full ordination, they shall call a council of ministers and brethren to examine the qualifications of the candidate, to which council the propriety of ordaining shall be wholly referred.

#### ART. X. BENEVOLENT ACTION.

The church holds it to be an imperative duty to labor for the propagation of pure Christianity, throughout the world, and will maintain some system by which all the leading objects of benevolence may receive their share of support, and all the members contribute, as the Lord prospers them.

All collections granted to churches, societies, or individuals, shall be counted by the Deacons before paying over the same; and the amount so collected shall be reported at the next church meeting.

## FORMS OF CHURCH LETTERS.

#### T LETTER OF DISMISSION

1. LETTER OF DISMISSION.
PHILADELPHIA, ——— 18—.
To the ——— Baptist Church in ———,
This certifies that is a member, in good standing, of
the First Baptist Church, and in compliance with —— own request.
is affectionately recommended and disimissed to your fellowship.
If notified within six months of — union with you, we shall
consider —— as dismissed from us; otherwise this letter shall be
null and void.
In behalf of the Church,
— —, Clerk.
II. LETTER OF NOTIFICATION.
11. LETTER OF NOTIFICATION.
To the First Baptist Church, Philadelphia.
This certifies, that recommended and dismissed by you,
by a letter dated, was on the received as a member of
the —— Baptist Church in ——.
Attest: — , Clerk.
•
III. LETTER OF OCCASIONAL COMMUNION.
THIS MAY CERTIFY that the bearer,, is a member of the
- Baptist Church in -, in good and regular standing; and
as such is affectionately commended to the sympathy, watchcare,
and communion of any sister Church where Providence may lead —
and communion or any sister of arch where Providence may lead —

--- Pastor.

This letter continues valid only one year.

Christ.

Attest:

This may Certify that the bearer,——, is a member of the Baptist Church in——, without reproach; and that he has the full and cordial approbation of his brethren, by a vote passed——, to exercise his gifts in preaching the Gospel of

V. LETTER OF DISMISSION TO FORM A NEW CHURCH.

The —— Baptist Church, in regular church meeting, —, 18—.

On request of the following brethren and sisters, now in regular standing with us, viz. (Here follow the names), to be dismissed from us for the purpose of uniting in the formation of a new church at ——, It was voted, that we cordially grant them letters of dismission for that purpose, and when regularly constituted as a church shall cease to regard them as under our watch-care.

VI. LETTERS FOR CALLING A COUNCIL.

1. TO RECOGNIZE A NEW CHURCH.

\_\_\_\_\_\_, Pastor.

1,, 10
To the Baptist Church of Christ in —.
In behalf of a number of brethren and sisters belonging to differ
ent Baptist Churches, who desire to be recognized as an independent
and distinct church in this place, we invite you to send your pastor
and two other delegates to sit in council with us, on the, in
the house of, to assist us by your prayers and counsels; and
if it shall be judged agreeable to the will of God, to recognize us
as a regular Baptist Church in fellowship with you.
The number of brethren who unite in this request is; and
of sisters; all of us with the knowledge and approval of the
churches to which we belong, who have granted us letters of dis
mission for this purpose. The churches invited, are the follow
ing, viz.,
— —, Committee — of of, Arrangements.
———,} of
————,) Arrangements.
2. FOR THE ORDINATION OF A MINISTER. 3. FOR THE DISMISSION
OF A MINISTER. 4. FOR THE TRIAL OF A MINISTER. The form
only vary with the subject and the occasion.
VII. MINUTES OF A COUNCIL.
VII. MINUTES OF A COUNCID.
An Ecclesiastical Council was convened at, on, by
letters missive from the church in
The Council was organized by the choice of ———— as Modera
tor, and ———, as Clerk. Prayer was offered by ——
The vote of the church inviting the Council was then read a
follows: (Copy the vote.)
The credentials of delegates were called for, from which it as
peared that the following brethren were entitled to vote in the
Council, viz.:
Churches. Pastors and Delegates.
The Council then heard a statement of the business, &c.
- Clerk Moderator.
— , Clerk. — , Moderator.



## I AM RESOLVED.

DEEPLY sensible of my past and present deficiencies, as a professed follower of the Lord Jesus Christ, and mindful of the judgment to which I am hastening, I AM RESOLVED, (by the grace of God helping me; 2 Cor. xii. 9; Ps. xxxvii. 5.)

- 1 To aim, with increased watchfulness, over my heart and life, at a higher standard of piety; that I may more honor my Master, and better commend to others the religion which I profess. Matt. v. 16: 1 Pet. ii. 11, 12.
- 2. To study the Scriptures more, that I may better understand what God requires of me. John v. 39, 2 Tim. iii. 15, 16, 17.
- 3. To pray more for myself, for my Pastor, for my fellow-professors, and for the impenitent. 1 Thess. v. 17; Matt. xxvi. 41; 2 Thess. iii. 1; 1 Tim. ii. 1.
- 4. To watch more affectionately and earnestly over my brethren, and to be more faithful in exhorting them to be steadfast. Phil. ii. 4; Eph. vi. 18; Heb. iii. 13.
- 5. To do all that I can to promote brotherly love. Matt. v. 9; Heb. x. 24; 1 Thess. iv. 9.
- 6. To set a stricter watch upon my tongue, lest, by unguarded speaking, I give occasion of offence, or aggravate existing evils. James i. 26; iii. 5, 6; Ps. xxxix. 1; Rom. vi. 19; Eph. iv. 29; Col. iv. 5, 6.
- 7. To attend punctually, except when I am absolutely prevented by Providential circumstances, the Prayer meetings of the church, and to make it a point of duty to urge others to do so. Heb. x. 23, 24, 25; Acts i. 14.
- 8. To discharge more zealously my duty to the impenitent, in warning them of their danger, and in beseeching them to come to Christ. Jude 20, 21, 22, 23; Eccl. ix. 10; Ps. exix. 53; Daniel xii. 3.
- 9. From this hour to seek earnestly, in all suitable ways, to promote the work of God in this church. Rom. xiii. 11, 12; John ix. 4; Ps. xc. 13—17.

PUBLISHED BY THE

AMERICAN BAPTIST PUBLICATION SOCIETY